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Explanatory Note
 
Safe Harbor Statement
 

This Form 6-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 about the registrant and its
business.  Forward-looking statements are statements that are not historical facts and may be identified by
the use of forward-looking terminology, including the words “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,”
“will,” “should” or comparable terminology. Such forward-looking statements are based upon the current
beliefs and expectations of the registrant’s management and are subject to risks and uncertainties which
could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements.
 

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity, and developments in the industry may differ materially from
those made in or suggested by the forward-looking statements contained in this Form 6-K. These forward-
looking statements are subject to numerous risks, uncertainties and assumptions.  The forward-looking
statements in this Form 6-K speaks only as of the date of this report and might not occur in light of these
risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. The registrant undertakes no obligation and disclaims any obligation
to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events, or otherwise.
 
 
Exhibits
 

The following exhibits are included in this Form 6-K: 
 

Notice of Change in Corporate Structure 
Financial Statements, MichiCann Medical Inc., Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, MichiCann Medical Inc., For the Year Ended December 31,
2019  
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
 
 
   
    
 By: /s/ Theo van der Linde  
  Theo van der Linde  
  Chief Financial Officer  
 Date:  August 31, 2020    
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NOTICE OF CHANGE IN CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Pursuant to Section 4.9 of National Instrument 51-102 - 
Continuous Disclosure Obligations (the “Instrument”)

 
 

Names of the Parties to the Transaction 
 
Red White & Bloom Brands Inc. (formerly Tidal Royalty Corp.) (the “Company”) and
MichiCann Medical Inc. (“MichiCann”), a company incorporated under the laws of the
Province of Ontario.
 

Description of the Transaction 
 
On April 24, 2020, the Company completed its previously announced business
combination with MichiCann, which resulted in the reverse takeover of the Company
by MichiCann (the “RTO Transaction”). The RTO Transaction was completed by way
of a three-cornered amalgamation pursuant to the terms and conditions of an
amended and restated business combination agreement dated March 12, 2020
between the Company, MichiCann and 2690229 Ontario Inc., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Definitive Agreement”). Effective April 24, 2020 and
in connection with the RTO Transaction, the Company's name was changed from
Tidal Royalty Corp. to Red White & Bloom Brands Inc. and the Company’s issued and
outstanding common shares (each a “Common Share”) were consolidated on the
basis of one (1) post-consolidation Common Share for every sixteen (16) pre-
consolidation Common Shares.
 
In accordance with the terms of the Definitive Agreement, holders of MichiCann
common shares (“MichiCann Shares”) received one (1) Common Share and one (1)
series 2 convertible preferred share (each a “Series 2 Preferred Share”) of the
Company for each MichiCann Share held. Holders of MichiCann common share
purchase warrants (“MichiCann Warrants”) and MichiCann stock options
(“MichiCann Options”) received one (1) replacement warrant or stock option for each
MichiCann Warrant and MichiCann Option, as applicable, with each exercisable for
units consisting of one (1) Common Share and one (1) Series 2 Preferred Share
(each a “Unit”). An aggregate of 108,726,349 Common Shares, 108,726,349 Series 2
Preferred Shares, 595,340 purchase warrants exercisable for Units and 7,401,429
stock options exercisable for Units (“Options”) were issued to the former holders of
MichiCann Shares, MichiCann Warrants and MichiCann Options, respectively.
 
All Series 2 Preferred Shares are convertible into Common shares, on a one for one
basis, anytime between seven and twenty-four months after their initial issuance date.
 
Certain shareholders have entered into voluntary escrow and/or escrow and leak out
agreements totaling 36,844,823 Common shares and the underlying shares for
3,000,000 Options. The escrow agreements carry various release terms between 6
and 18 months.
 
As a result of the completion of the RTO Transaction former holders of MichiCann
Shares now hold approximately 82.25% of the issued and outstanding Common
Shares and pre-RTO Transaction shareholders of the Company now hold 17.75% of
the Common Shares, in each case, on a non-diluted basis.

Item 1

Item 2



Upon the completion of the RTO Transaction, the board of directors of the Company
was reconstituted to consist of Messrs. Brad Rogers, Theo van der Linde, Brendan
Purdy, Michael Marchese and Bill Dawson, with Mr. Rogers also becoming the Chief
Executive Officer and Mr. van der Linde becoming the Chief Financial Officer.
 

Effective Date of the Transaction 
 
April 24, 2020.
 

Names of each party, if any, that ceased to be a Reporting Issuer
after the Transaction and of each Continuing Entity 

 
Not applicable. The Company continues to be a reporting issuer in British Columbia
and Ontario.
 

Date of Reporting Issuer’s first financial year-end subsequent to
the Transaction, if applicable 

 
The Company’s first financial year-end subsequent to the RTO Transaction will be
December 31, 2020, as the Company has adopted the financial year-end of
MichiCann (being the reverse take-over acquirer in accordance with Section 4.10(1)
(b) of the Instrument).
 

Periods, including comparative periods, if any, of the interim and
annual financial statements required to be filed for the Reporting
Issuer’s first financial year subsequent to the Transaction, if
applicable 

 
The Company will file interim unaudited financial statements for MichiCann for the
three months ended March 31, 2020 on or before June 1, 2020, and annual audited
financial statements for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2019 on or
before May 14, 2020.
 

Documents that were filed under the Instrument that describe the
Transaction and where those Documents can be found in
Electronic Format, if applicable 

 
The following documents describing the RTO Transaction were filed under the
Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com:
 

the press release of the Company dated February 14, 2019; 
the material change report of the Company dated February 19, 2019; 
the press release of the Company dated February 26, 2019; 
the senior secured convertible debenture dated February 25, 2019; 
the material change report of the Company dated March 4, 2019; 
the press release of the Company dated May 13, 2019; 
the material change report of the Company dated May 14, 2019; 
the press release of the Company dated May 30, 2019; 
the press release of the Company dated October 18, 2019;  
the press release of the Company dated March 12, 2020 

Item 3

Item 4

Item 5

Item 6

Item 7

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.



the amended and restated business combination agreement between the
Company, MichiCann and 2690229 Ontario Inc., dated March 12, 2020; 
the material change report of the Company dated March 13, 2020; 
the press release of the Company dated April 28, 2020; 
the Certificate of Name Change, reflecting the change of the Company’s name
to Red White & Bloom Brands Inc., dated April 24, 2020; and 
the material change report of the Company dated April 29, 2020. 

 
Date of Notice 

 
May 14, 2020.

11.

12.
13.
14.

15.

Item 7
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

 
 
 
 
 
To the Shareholders of MichiCann Medical Inc.:
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying consolidated
financial statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes selecting
appropriate accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of
transactions in which objective judgment is required.
 
In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements,
management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial
records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements.
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial
reporting responsibilities. The Board has the responsibility of meeting with management and external
auditors to discuss the internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters and financial
reporting issues. The Board is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the Company's
external auditors.
 
Smythe LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Professional Accountants, is appointed by the shareholders
to audit the consolidated financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The external
auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, the Board and
management to discuss their audit findings.
 
 
 
April 29, 2020
 
 
 
 

/s/ Michael Marchese
 
Michael Marchese, Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MICHICANN MEDICAL INC.
 
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MichiCann Medical Inc. (the "Company"), which
comprise:
w the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and 2018;
w the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss for the years then ended;
w the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended;
w the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended; and
w the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
 
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits of the consolidated financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company’s
 working capital deficiency was $16,071,433 and has accumulated losses of $14,677,625 as at December
31, 2019. As stated in Note 2, these events and conditions, along with other matters set forth in Note 2,
indicated that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
 
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises he information
included in Management's Discussion and Analysis.
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audits of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
We obtained the other information prior to the date of this auditors’ report. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
 
Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. As part of an audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.  

 
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Kevin Yokichi Nishi
 

Chartered Professional Accountants

Vancouver, British Columbia
April 29, 2020
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MichiCann Medical Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
 
 

 
 December 31,

2019
December 31,

2018
 Notes $ $
ASSETS    
    
Current assets    

Cash  1,378,687 24,377,286
Prepaid expenses  124,140 50,000
Accounts receivable 5 1,463,388 -
Loans receivable 6 36,504,397 10,510,400

    
  39,470,612 34,937,686
Non-current assets    

Equipment 13 10,847 -
Deposits 6, 17 12,530,659 -
Loans receivable 6 36,419,594 -
Call option 6 19,547,757 -

    
  68,508,857 -

Total assets  107,979,469 34,937,686
    
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
    
Current liabilities    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9 1,334,370 161,937
Convertible debentures 11 17,597,600 -
Bridge financing 12 36,610,075 -
Total liabilities  55,542,045 161,937
    

Shareholders’ equity    
    
Share capital 7 61,366,160 35,111,680
Contributed surplus 7 5,748,889 1,952,794
Subscriptions receivable 7 - (125,000)
Deficit  (14,677,625) (2,163,725)
    
Total shareholders’ equity  52,437,424 34,775,749

    
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  107,979,469 34,937,686
 
 
Approved and authorized for issuance on behalf of the Board of Directors on April 29, 2020 by:

/s/ Michael Marchese  
  
Michael Marchese, Director  

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)
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MichiCann Medical Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
 
 
 

 

Year ended
December 31,

2019

Year ended
December 31,

2018
 Notes $ $  
Expenses    

Share-based compensation 7 3,796,095 1,637,559
Interest expense 12 3,540,353 -
Commissions 12 2,361,459 -
Professional fees  1,952,329 53,522
Consulting fees  919,839 325,000
Marketing  913,412 32,921
Salaries and wages  568,167 -
General and administration  79,235 7,865
Depreciation 13 1,898 -
Foreign exchange loss (gain)  1,385,803 (25,465)

Loss before other items  (15,518,590) (2,031,402)
    
Other expenses (income)    

Interest income 6 (3,960,708) -
Management fees 5 (1,111,637) -
Accretion of loans receivable 6 (2,340,164) -
Accretion expense 11 - 139,938
Loss on revaluation of call option 6 4,407,819 -

  (3,004,690) 139,938
Loss before income tax  (12,513,900) (2,171,340)
    
 Deferred income tax recovery 16 - (40,301)
    
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year  (12,513,900) (2,131,039)

    
Net loss per share, basic and diluted  (0.16) (0.06)
    
Weighted average shares outstanding  80,700,135 38,474,379

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)
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MichiCann Medical Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
 
 
 

Share capital

 
 

Subscriptions
receivable

$
 

Reserves
$

 
Convertible
debentures

– equity
component

$
Deficit

$
Total

$
Number of

shares
Amount

$
   

  
 

       
    
         
Balance, December 31, 2017 1 1 - - 70,950 (32,686) 38,265
Equity component of convertible
debentures - - - - 56,017 - 56,017
Deferred income tax on equity
components of convertible debentures - - - - (15,125) - (15,125)
Convertible debentures exercised 2,024,000 1,114,518 - - (111,842) - 1,002,676
Shares issued, net 72,198,181 34,312,396 (125,000) - - - 34,187,396
Finders’ warrants issued - (315,235) - 315,235 - - -
Share-based compensation - - - 1,637,559 - - 1,637,559
Net loss for the year - - - - - (2,131,039) (2,131,039)
Balance, December 31, 2018 74,222,182 35,111,680 (125,000) 1,952,794 - (2,163,725) 34,775,749
Shares issued, net 9,989,570 26,254,480 125,000 - - - 26,379,480
Share-based compensation - - - 3,796,095 - - 3,796,095
Net loss for the year - - - - - (12,513,900) (12,513,900)
Balance, December 31, 2019 84,211,752 61,366,160 - 5,748,889 - (14,677,625) 52,437,424
         

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)
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MichiCann Medical Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
 
 

  

Year ended
December 31,

2019

Year ended
December 31,

2018
 Notes $ $
Operating activities    
    
Net loss for the year  (12,513,900) (2,131,039)
    
Items not affecting cash:    

  Share-based compensation 7 3,796,095 1,637,559
  Accrued interest receivable 6 (3,832,577) -
  Accrued interest payable 12 229,399 -
  Accretion of loans receivable 6 (2,340,164) 139,938
  Unrealized foreign exchange gain  (1,442,606) -
  Loss on revaluation of call option 6 4,407,819 -
  Depreciation 13 1,898 -
  Deferred income tax recovery  - (40,301)
    
Changes in non-cash operating working capital:    

  Prepaid expenses  (74,140) 247,917
  Accounts receivable 5 (1,463,388) -

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  1,127,093 134,495

Net cash used in operating activities  (12,104,471) (11,431)
    
Investing activity    
    

Purchase of equipment 13 (12,745) -
Deposits 6, 17 (12,246,787) -
Loans receivable 6 (79,090,092) (5,700,400)

Net cash used in investing activities  (91,349,624) (5,700,400)
    
Financing activities    
    
  Issuance of share capital, net 7 26,299,820 29,502,396
  Subscriptions receivable 7 125,000 (125,000)
  Convertible debentures 11 17,650,000 385,000
  Bridge financing 12 36,380,676 -

    
Net cash provided by financing activities  80,455,496 24,061,996
    
Increase (decrease) in cash  (22,998,599) 24,050,565
Cash, beginning of the year  24,377,286 326,721
    
Cash, end of the year  1,378,687 24,377,286
    

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information (Note 14)

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)
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MichiCann Medical Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Background and Nature of Operations  
 
MichiCann Medical Inc. (the “Company” or “MichiCann”) is a private cannabis investment company
incorporated under the laws of Ontario on December 5, 2017. The Company’s head office and
registered office is located at 8820 Jane Street, Concord, ON, L4K 2M9 Canada.

PharmaCo Inc. Agreements

On January 4, 2019, MichiCann entered into a put/call option agreement (the “Put/Call Option
Agreement”) with PharmaCo Inc. (“PharmaCo”) and its shareholders (“PharmaCo Shareholders”)
pursuant to which the PharmaCo Shareholders granted MichiCann the call right to acquire 100% of the
issued and outstanding shares of PharmaCo from the PharmaCo Shareholders, and MichiCann granted
all of the PharmaCo Shareholders the put right to sell 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of
PharmaCo to MichiCann, in exchange for the issuance of 37,000,000 MichiCann common shares in
aggregate (subject to standard anti-dilution protections)  subject to all state and local regulatory
approvals including the approval of the Medical Marihuana Licensing Board and/or the Bureau of Medical
Marihuana Regulation within the Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs (“LARA”) in the State of
Michigan. Each PharmaCo Shareholder shall have the right, but not the obligation, as its sole direction,
to sell to MichiCann all, but not less than all, of the PharmaCo common shares held by it. As at
December 31, 2019, the call option was determined to have a fair value of $19,547,757 using level 3
inputs of the fair value hierarchy.

On January 4, 2019, MichiCann entered into a debenture purchase agreement (the “Debenture
Purchase Agreement”) with PharmaCo pursuant to which MichiCann agreed to purchase up to
$114,734,209 US Dollars (“USD”) of an 8% senior secured convertible debenture of PharmaCo (the
“Opco Debenture”). The Opco Debenture is secured by all real and personal property and interests in
the real and personal property of PharmaCo, whether now owned or subsequently acquired. The Opco
Debenture has a maturity date of January 4, 2023 (the “Maturity Date”).

The principal amount of the Opco Debenture is convertible into common shares of PharmaCo at a
conversion price equal to the then outstanding balance of the Opco Debenture divided by the total
number of PharmaCo common shares then outstanding (the “Conversion Shares”). The principal
amount and accrued interest of the Opco Debenture outstanding is convertible at any time on or prior to
the earlier of the business day immediately preceding: (i) the Maturity Date; and (ii) the date that is 30
days after the Company received LARA’s written approval of the Holder Application (application seeking
permission to convert the Opco Debenture and own the Conversion Shares).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the conversion of the Opco Debenture is subject to PharmaCo and
MichiCann having obtained all required permits from governmental authorities in connection with
MichiCann’s ownership of PharmaCo common shares, including, without limitation, all required cannabis
licenses or related permits issued by LARA (but excluding any permit or other requirement which arises
or may arise under any excluded law).

RWB Illinois Inc.

On October 4, 2019, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of RWB
Illinois, Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the state of Delaware on October 4, 2019.
 The consideration paid for the acquisition was $1.

Going Concern  
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the assumption of a going concern,
which assumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business. As at December 31, 2019, the Company’s working capital deficiency was
$16,071,433 (2018 – working capital of $34,775,749) and has accumulated losses of $14,677,625 (2018
- $2,163,725) since inception.
 
These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. These consolidated financial statements do not
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MichiCann Medical Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

include adjustments to the amounts and classifications of assets and liabilities that might be necessary
should the Company be unable to continue operations. If the going concern assumption were not
appropriate for these consolidated financial statements then adjustments would be necessary to the
carrying values of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the consolidated statements of
financial position classifications used. Such adjustments could be material.
 

Basis of presentation 

Statement of Compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
Interpretation of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”)

 
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on April 29,
2020.

 
Basis of presentation 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for
financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss, which are measured at fair value, as
detailed in Note 8.  In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the
accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow information.
 

Basis of consolidation 
 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiary, RWB Illinois Inc. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon
consolidation.

 
Functional and presentation currency 
 

All figures presented in these consolidated financial statements are reflected in Canadian dollars
(“CAD”), which is the functional currency of the Company.

 
Significant Accounting Policies 

 
Use of Estimates and Judgments 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual results. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future
periods affected.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made significant assumptions
which are applied in determining the fair values of the loans receivable and convertible debentures at the
reporting date, including that the transaction with Tidal Royalty Corp. (“Tidal”) will complete timely as
described in Note 17 and that the Company will exercise its conversion rights pursuant to the Debenture
Purchase Agreement. Should the assumptions be incorrect, it would result in a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities.
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MichiCann Medical Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Other significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that
management has made as at the consolidated statement of financial position date that could result in a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the event that actual results differ
from assumptions made, related to, but are not limited to, the following: 

Share-based Compensation

The Company provides compensation benefits to its consultants, directors and officers through a stock
option plan. The fair value of each option award is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model which utilizes subjective assumptions such as expected price volatility and expected life of the
option. Share-based compensation expense also utilizes subjective assumptions on forfeiture rate.
Changes in these input assumptions can significantly affect the fair value estimate.

 
Convertible Debentures
 
In accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement, convertible debentures are compound
financial instruments that are accounted for separately by their components: a financial liability and an
equity instrument. The fair value of any derivative feature embedded in the compound financial
instrument (other than the equity component, such as an equity conversion feature) is presented as a
liability instrument. The identification of convertible debenture components is based on interpretations of
the substance of the contractual arrangement and therefore requires judgment from management. The
separation of the components affects the initial recognition of the convertible debenture at issuance and
the subsequent recognition of interest on the liability component. The determination of the fair value of
the liability component is also based on a number of assumptions, including contractual future cash
flows, discount factors and the presence of any derivative financial instruments.

 
Derivative Financial Instruments
 
A derivative is a financial instrument whose value is based on an underlying asset or set of assets. The
Company has determined that its call option represents a derivative financial instrument and as such
has been measured at fair value in accordance with level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Accordingly, the
fair value of derivative financial instruments was determined using inputs that are not based on
observable market data and therefore requires judgment from management.

 
Deferred Income Taxes
 
The measurement of income taxes payable and deferred income tax assets and liabilities requires
management to make judgments in the interpretation and application of the relevant tax laws. The actual
amount of income taxes only becomes final upon filing and acceptance of the tax return by the relevant
tax authorities, which occurs subsequent to the issuance of these consolidated financial statements.
 
Loans Receivable
 
Management applies judgment in the assessment of the collectability of the loans and interest
receivable.
 
Accounts Receivable
 
Management applies judgement in the assessment of the collectability of its trade receivables included
in accounts receivable.
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Going Concern
 
The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and to raise sufficient funds to
pay its ongoing operating expenditures and meet its liabilities for the ensuing year involves significant
judgment based on historical experience and other factors, including expectation of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

 
Equipment 

 
Equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.  Depreciation, based on the estimated useful lives of the assets, is provided using the following
methods:
 

Straight-line 
Straight-line 

 
Equipment acquired during the year but not placed into use are not depreciated until they are placed
into use.
 

Share capital 
 

Common shares
Common shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of
common shares and share options are recognized as a reduction from equity
 
Equity units
Proceeds received on the issuance of units, consisting of common shares and warrants, are allocated
first to common shares based on the comparable issuance price of common shares issued without
warrants. Any excess of proceeds is allocated to warrants. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
issuance of units are recognized as a reduction from equity.

 
Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
At each date of the consolidated statements of financial position, the Company reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets to determine whether there is an indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an
asset is required, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the assets
belong.
 
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing the
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset.
 
In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no
such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available
fair value indicators. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a re-valued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognized for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years. A previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.
 
To date the Company has not recognized any impairment loss.

Share-based compensation 

Share-based compensation to employees and those providing employee-like services are measured at
the fair value of the instruments issued at the grant date and recognized over the vesting periods using
the graded vesting method. Share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of
goods or services received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair
value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured and are recorded at the date the goods or
services are received.
 
If it is determined that the fair value of goods and services received cannot be reliably measured, the
share-based expense is measured at the fair value of the equity instruments issued using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. For both employees and non-employees, the fair value of share-based
compensation expense is recognized in profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in contributed
surplus. When options expire unexercised, these amounts are reclassified into deficit.

Loss per share 

Loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. The
Company uses the treasury stock method to comput the dilutive effect of options, warrants and similar
instruments. The calculation of diluted earnings per share assumes that the outstanding options and
warrants are exercised, and the proceeds are used to repurchase shares of the Company at the
average market price of the shares for the period. Diluted loss per share is not presented if the effects
are anti-dilutive.

Income taxes 
 
Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences at the consolidated statement of financial position
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
 
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred income tax asset to be utilized.
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year
when the asset is realized, or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.
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For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right
exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Foreign currency translation 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the rate in effect at
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the spot rate of exchange in effect at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at
the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. All exchange
differences are recorded in profit and loss.

Financial instruments 
 
The Company recognizes a financial asset or liability when it becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. The Company classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities in the following
measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”); 
those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”);

and 
those to be measured at amortized cost.  

 
The classification of financial assets depends on the business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows. The Company reclassifies financial assets if and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes. Financial liabilities are not reclassified.
 
Financial assets at amortized cost
 
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial assets are recorded at amortized cost
using the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest
would be immaterial. Financial assets in this category include accounts receivable and loans receivable.
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost are measured at FVTPL. Derivative
financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are classified as
FVTPL. The Company has no designated hedges. Financial instruments classified as FVTPL are stated
at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss for the period. Financial assets in this
category include cash and call option.
 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
A financial asset measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is recognized initially at
fair value plus transaction cost directly attributable to the asset. After initial recognition, the asset is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value included as “financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income” in other comprehensive income. The Company does not have any financial
assets classified as fair value through other comprehensive income.
 
Impairment
 
The Company assesses all information available, including on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit loss associated with its assets carried at amortized cost. The impairment methodology applied
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depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. To assess whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as
at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition based on all information
available, and reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. For trade receivables only, the
Company applies the simplified approach as permitted by IFRS 9. The simplified approach to the
recognition of expected losses does not require the Company to track the changes in credit risk; rather,
the Company recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting
date from the date of the trade receivable.
 
Evidence of impairment may include indications that the counterparty debtor or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data
indicates that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. Receivables are reviewed qualitatively on a
case-by-case basis to determine whether they need to be written off.
 
Expected credit losses are measured as the difference in the present value of the contractual cash flows
that are due to the Company under the contract, and the cash flows that the Company expects to
receive. The Company assesses all information available, including past due status, credit ratings, the
existence of third-party insurance, and forward looking macro-economic factors in the measurement of
the expected credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortized cost.
 
The Company measures expected credit loss by considering the risk of default over the contract period
and incorporates forward-looking information into its measurement.
 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost are non-derivatives and are recognized initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and are subsequently stated at amortized cost. Any difference between the
amounts originally received, net of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognized in profit or
loss over the period to maturity using the effective interest method.
 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost are classified as current or non-current based on their maturity date.
Financial liabilities in this category include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and bridge financing.
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
 
This category is comprised of derivative financial liabilities. Derivative financial liabilities are initially
recognized at their fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value at each reporting period with changes in the fair value recognized in profit
or loss. Financial liabilities in this category include convertible debentures.
 
Fair value hierarchy
 
The following table summarizes the fair value hierarchy under which the Company's financial
instruments are valued.
 
Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based upon observable market data.

 
Offsetting financial assets and liabilities
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Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position only when the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized
amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

 

Adoption of accounting standard 
 

IFRS 16 Leases
 
The Company adopted IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) effective January 1, 2019. This new standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both the
lessee and the lessor. The new standard introduces a single lessee accounting model that requires the
recognition of all assets and liabilities arising from a lease. The main features of the new standard are
as follows:
 

An entity identifies as a lease a contract that conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration. 
A lessee recognizes an asset representing the right to use the leased asset, and a liability for
its obligation to make lease payments. Exceptions are permitted for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets.  
A lease asset is initially measured at cost, and is then depreciated similarly to property, plant
and equipment. A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the unpaid lease
payments. 
A lessee presents interest expense on a lease liability separately from depreciation of a lease
asset in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
A lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account
for them accordingly. 
A lessor provides enhanced disclosures about its risk exposure, particularly exposure to
residual-value risk. 

 
The new standard supersedes the requirements in IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
 
The Company reviewed its current operations and noted no impact on the adoption of IFRS 16.
 
 

Accounts Receivable 
 

Accounts receivable is comprised of: 
 

    

December 31,
2019

$

December 31,
2018

$
   
Trade receivables 1,111,637 -
Sales tax receivable 351,751 -
   
Total accounts receivable 1,463,388 -

 
Trade receivables are related to management fees charged to PharmaCo. 

 
Sales tax receivable represents input tax credits arising from sales tax levied on the supply of goods
purchased or services serviced in Canada.
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Loans Receivable 
 
Debenture with PharmaCo 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company advanced a series of funds, totalling
$5,700,400, to PharmaCo, an arms-length party, in the form of a debenture. The debenture was non-
interest bearing, unsecured and is due on demand. On January 4, 2019, the debenture totalling
$5,700,400 was transferred into the Opco Debenture, which is discussed below.

 
Debt settlement on behalf of PharmaCo 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 4,810,000 common shares valued at
$1.00 per common share for a total of $4,810,000 to a third-party, as consideration to settle amounts
owed by PharmaCo to the third-party. The amount due from PharmaCo to the Company of $4,810,000
(2018 - $4,810,000) is non-interest bearing, unsecured and has no fixed terms of repayment. This
debenture is included in current loans receivable as of December 31, 2019.
 

OpCo Debenture 
 

On January 4, 2019, the Company entered a Debenture Purchase Agreement with PharmaCo. Under
the terms of this agreement, the Company will advance a principal amount of up to USD $114,734,209.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company has advanced $48,502,029 plus the $5,700,400 debenture
that was transferred to the OpCo Debenture for a total advance of $54,202,429. The OpCo Debenture
earns interest at 8% per annum and is secured by all real and personal property and interests in the real
and personal property of PharmaCo, whether now owned or subsequently acquired. The OpCo
Debenture including all accrued interest has a maturity date of January 4, 2023. As of December 31,
2019, there is $3,832,577 of accrued interest relating to the OpCo Debenture included in non-current
loans receivable.
 
Concurrent with the OpCo Debenture, the Company entered a Put/Call Option Agreement with
PharmaCo, as described in Note 1. Both the OpCo Debenture and the call option are financial
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss. At the agreement date, the fair value of the
OpCo Debenture was determined to be $30,246,853 and the fair value of the call option was
determined to be $23,955,576.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded accretion income of $2,340,164 on
the OpCo Debenture. As of December 31, 2019, the value of the OpCo Debenture of $32,587,017 is
included in non-current loans receivable.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded a loss on revaluation of call option
of $4,407,819. As of December 31, 2019, the fair value of the call option is $19,547,757.

 
Promissory note with PharmaCo 

 
On June 7, 2019, the Company entered a Promissory Note Agreement (“Promissory Note”) with
PharmaCo. Under the terms of this agreement, the Company advanced a principal amount of
$30,648,517. The Promissory Note is non-interest bearing, unsecured, and matures on January 2,
2020. On January 2, 2020, the Company entered a Promissory Note Extension Agreement with
PharmaCo. The Promissory Note is non-interest bearing, unsecured, and matures on January 2, 2021.
 The funds advanced under the Promissory Note were received from the Bridge Financing (Note 12).
The Promissory Note is included in current loans receivable as of December 31, 2019.

 
Other amounts with PharmaCo 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, additional funds were advanced to and from PharmaCo,
including $300,000 to PharmaCo for operating expenditures and a $670,500 deposit made by
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PharmaCo to Kings Garden Inc. on behalf of the Company, pursuant to the letter of intent (the “LOI”)
with Kings Garden Inc. (Note 17) and $58,172 of expenditures paid by PharmaCo on behalf of the
Company. These amounts are non-interest bearing, unsecured, and have no fixed terms of repayment
and are included in current loans receivable as of December 31, 2019.
 

Other amounts with Mid-American Growers 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, $12,079,652 was advanced to MAG. Included in this
amount was a $10,605,100 (USD $8,000,000) deposit for the acquisition of MAG and the Illinois Facility
which was subsequently completed on January 10, 2020 (Note 18) and $1,474,552 advanced for
operating expenditures. These amounts are non-interest bearing, unsecured, and were repayable to
the Company had the acquisition of MAG not been completed. The amount paid for a deposit for the
acquisition of MAG and the Illinois Facility is included in deposits as at December 31, 2019. The
amounts advanced for operating expenditures are included in current loans receivable as at December
31, 2019.

 

Share Capital 

Authorized share capital:  

Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

Outstanding share capital:

On January 2, 2018, the Company issued 37,309,999 founder common shares for gross proceeds of
$37.

On November 21, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of $1,012,000 principal amount of
unsecured convertible debentures (the “Unsecured Debentures”) convertible into one common share of
the Company at a price of $0.50 per common share. All Unsecured Debentures were converted into an
aggregate of 2,024,000 common shares of the Company on November 21, 2018 (Note 11).

On December 19, 2018, the Company issued 30,078,182 common shares pursuant to a non-brokered
financing (first tranche) at a price of $1.00 for aggregate gross proceeds of $30,078,182. The Company
paid share issuance costs of $470,340 as finder fees. Subsequent to December 31, 2018, $125,000 in
subscriptions receivable was received.

On December 19, 2018, the Company completed the issuance of 4,810,000 common shares to settle
certain debts of PharmaCo at a price of $1.00 per common share for a total of $4,810,000.  The shares
were issued to settle amounts owed by PharmaCo to a third-party company (Note 6).  

On February 22, 2019, the Company issued 4,500,000 common shares pursuant to a non-brokered
financing (second tranche) at a price of $1.00 per common share for aggregate proceeds of $4,500,000.

On February 22, 2019, the Company issued 2,240,000 common shares pursuant to a non-brokered
financing at a price of $2.50 per common share for aggregate proceeds of $5,600,000.

On September 30, 2019, the Company issued 1,178,100 common shares pursuant to a non-brokered
financing at a price of $5.00 per common share for aggregate proceeds of $5,890,500.

On October 1, 2019, the Company issued 345,000 common shares pursuant to a non-brokered
financing at a price of $5.00 per common share for aggregate proceeds of $1,725,000.

On October 9, 2019, the Company issued 844,470 common shares pursuant to a non-brokered
financing at a price of $5.00 per common share for aggregate proceeds of $4,222,350.

18

(f)

7.



MichiCann Medical Inc.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

On October 23, 2019, the Company issued 1,200,000 common shares pursuant to a non-brokered
financing at a price of $5.00 per common share for aggregate proceeds of $6,000,000.

On November 1, 2019, the Company cancelled 345,000 common shares. The original proceeds of
$1,725,000 were returned to the purchasers and reversed from common shares on the statement of
changes in equity.

On December 18, 2019, the Company issued 27,000 common shares pursuant to a non-brokered
financing at a price of $5.00 per common share for aggregate proceeds of $135,000.

The Company paid share issuance costs of $93,370 for non-brokered financing completed in the year
ended December 31, 2019.

Warrants:

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 595,430 finders’ warrants with an
exercise price of $1.00 per common share of the Company for a period of two years. No warrants were
issued during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Warrant transactions and the number of warrants outstanding are summarized as follows:
 

 Number of Weighted Average
 Warrants Exercise Price
Balance at December 31, 2017 - $                  -
Issued 595,430 1.00
Exercised - -
Cancelled - -
Balance at December 31, 2018 595,430 $            1.00
Issued - -
Exercised - -
Cancelled - -
Balance at December 31, 2019 595,430 $            1.00

 
The following warrants were outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2019:

 

Issue Date  Expiry Date
Exercise

Price

Number of
Warrants

Outstanding

Number of
Warrants

Exercisable
      
December 19,
2018  

December 19,
2020 $ 1.00 595,340 595,340

    595,340 595,340

Options:

On October 1, 2018, the Company granted 2,000,000 stock options to a consultant and an officer of the
Company. These stock options vest 12.5% on January 1, 2019, 12.5% on April 1, 2019, 12.5% on July
1, 2019, 12.5% on October 1, 2019, 12.5% on January 1, 2020, 12.5% on April 1, 2020, 12.5% on July
1, 2020 and the remaining 12.5% on October 1, 2020. These stock options have an exercise price of
$0.50 per share and expire on October 1, 2023.
 
On October 1, 2018, the Company granted 2,500,000 stock options to consultants of the Company.
These stock options vest 25% on January 1, 2019, 25% on April 1, 2019, 25% on July 1, 2019, 25% on
October 1, 2019. These stock options have an exercise price of $0.50 per share and expire on October
1, 2023.
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On January 15, 2019, the Company granted a total of 1,100,000 stock options to a consultant of the
Company. 500,000 of these stock options vest on April 1, 2019. These stock options have an exercise
price of $1.00 per share and expire on January 15, 2024. The remaining 600,000 of these stock options
vest on October 1, 2019. These stock options have an exercise price of $2.50 per share and expire on
January 15, 2024.

On February 1, 2019, the Company granted 400,000 stock options to a consultant of the Company.
These stock options vest 12.5% on October 1, 2019, 12.5% on January 1, 2020, 12.5% on April 1, 2020,
12.5% on July 1, 2020, 12.5% on October 1, 2020, 12.5% on January 1, 2021, 12.5% on April 1, 2021
and the remaining 12.5% on July 1, 2021. These stock options have an exercise price of $1.00 per
share and expire on February 1, 2024.

 

On April 1, 2019, the Company granted 400,000 stock options to a consultant of the Company. These
stock options vest 25% on October 1, 2019, 25% on January 1, 2020, 25% on April 1, 2020, an 25% on
July 1, 2020. These stock options have an exercise price of $1.00 per share and expire on April 1,
2024. 

On April 15, 2019, the Company granted 12,500 stock options to an employee of the Company. These
options vest 34% on April 15, 2020, 33% on April 15, 2021, and 33% on April 15, 2022. These stock
options have an exercise price of $1.00 and expire on April 15, 2024.

On April 29, 2019, the Company granted 500,000 stock options to a consultant of the Company. These
options vest 25% on April 29, 2019, 25% on May 30, 2019, 25% on August 30, 2019, and 25% on
December 30, 2019. These stock options have an exercise price of $1.00 and expire on April 29, 2024.

On May 13, 2019, the Company granted 350,000 stock options to an executive of the Company. These
stock options vest 12.5% on May 13, 2019, 12.5% on August 13, 2019, 12.5% on November 13, 2019,
12.5% on February 13, 2020, 12.5% on May 13, 2020, 12.5% on August 13, 2020, 12.5% on November
13, 2020 and the remaining 12.5% on February 13, 2021. These stock options have an exercise price
of $1.00 per share and expire on May 13, 2024.

On May 21, 2019, the Company granted 30,000 stock options to an employee of the Company. These
stock options vest 12.5% on May 21, 2019, 12.5% on August 21, 2019, 12.5% on November 21, 2019,
12.5% on February 21, 2020, 12.5% on May 21, 2020, 12.5% on August 21, 2020, 12.5% on November
21, 2020 and the remaining 12.5% on February 21, 2021. These stock options have an exercise price
of $1.00 per share and expire on May 21, 2024.

On August 12, 2019, the Company granted 12,500 stock options to an employee of the Company.
These options vest 34% on August 12, 2020, 33% on August 12, 2021, and 33% on August 12, 2022.
These stock options have an exercise price of $1.00 and expire on August 12, 2024.

On November 13, 2019, the Company granted 100,000 stock options to an employee of the Company.
 These options vest 8.3% on February 13, 2020, 8.3% on May 13, 2020, 8.3% on August 13, 2020,
8.3% on November 13, 2020, 8.3% on February 13, 2021, 8.3% on May 13, 2021, 8.3% on August 13,
2021, 8.3% on November 13, 2021, 8.3% on February 13, 2022, 8.3% on May 13, 2022, 8.3% on
August 13, 2022, and 8.3% on November 13, 2022.  These stock options have an exercise price of
$1.00 and expire on November 13, 2024.

On November 22, 2019, the Company granted 25,000 stock options to an employee of the Company.
 These options vest 8.3% on February 13, 2020, 8.3% on May 13, 2020, 8.3% on August 13, 2020,
8.3% on November 13, 2020, 8.3% on February 13, 2021, 8.3% on May 13, 2021, 8.3% on August 13,
2021, 8.3% on November 13, 2021, 8.3% on February 13, 2022, 8.3% on May 13, 2022, 8.3% on
August 13, 2022, and 8.3% on November 13, 2022.  These stock options have an exercise price of
$1.00 and expire on November 22, 2024.
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The options granted during the year ended December 31, 2019 have a fair value of $2,593,834 (2018 -
$3,739,048) estimated using the Black-Scholes options pricing model with the following weighted
average assumptions:

 2019 2018
Risk-free interest rate 1.92% 2.42%
Expected term (in years) 5.00 5.00
Estimated dividend yield 0% 0%
Estimated volatility 100.00% 100.00%

 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized $3,796,095 (2018 - $1,637,559)
in share-based compensation under graded vesting.
 
 

 

Options transactions and the number of options outstanding are summarized are as follows:  

 Number of Weighted Average
 Stock Options Exercise Price
Balance at December 31, 2017 - $                  -
Granted 4,500,000 0.50
Exercised - -
Cancelled - -
Balance at December 31, 2018 4,500,000 $            0.50
Granted 2,930,000 1.26
Exercised - -
Cancelled - -
Balance at December 31, 2019 7,430,000 $            0.80

 

The following options were outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2019:
 

Grant Date  Expiry Date
Exercise

Price

Number of
Options

Outstanding

Number of
Options

Exercisable
      
October 1, 2018  October 1, 2023 $ 0.50 4,500,000 3,500,000
January 15, 2019  January 15, 2024 $ 1.00 500,000 500,000
January 15, 2019  January 15, 2024 $ 2.50 600,000 600,000
February 1, 2019  February 1, 2024 $ 1.00 400,000 50,000
April 1, 2019  April 1, 2024 $1.00 400,000 100,000
April 15, 2019  April 15, 2024 $1.00 12,500 -
April 29, 2019  April 29, 2024 $1.00 500,000 500,000
May 13, 2019  May 13, 2024 $1.00 350,000 131,250
May 21, 2019  May 21, 2024 $1.00 30,000 11,250

August 12, 2019  August 12, 2024 $1.00 12,500

-
 
 
 
 
 

November 13,
2019  

November 13,
2024 $1.00 100,000

-
 
 
 
 
 

November 22,
2019  

November 22,
2024 $1.00 25,000

-
 
 
 
 
 

    7,430,000 5,392,500
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Financial Instruments and Risks 

Fair Value 
 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis were presented on the Company’s
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 as
follows:

 
 Fair Value Measurements Using  

     
 Quoted prices in Significant   
 active markets other Significant  
 for identical observable unobservable  
 instruments inputs inputs  
 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Balance
 $ $ $ $
     
December 31, 2019     

Cash 1,378,687 - - 1,378,687
Accounts receivable 1,463,388 - - 1,463,388
Loans receivable 72,923,991 - - 72,923,991
Refundable deposits 10,605,100 - - 10,605,100
Call option - - 19,547,757 19,547,757

Total 86,371,166 - 19,547,757 105,918,923
     

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 1,334,370 - - 1,334,370
Convertible debentures 17,597,600 - - 17,597,600
Bridge financing 36,610,075 - - 36,610,075

Total  55,542,045 - - 55,542,045
     
December 31, 2018     

Cash 24,377,286 - - 24,377,286
Loan receivable 10,510,400 - - 10,510,400

Total 34,887,686 - - 34,887,686
     
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 161,937 - - 161,937

Total  161,937 - - 161,937
 

The fair values of other financial instruments, which include accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
loans receivable, approximate their carrying values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these
instruments.

Credit Risk 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist
primarily of cash, accounts receivable and loans receivable. The Company limits its exposure to credit
loss by placing its cash with high credit quality financial institutions. Deposits held with these institutions
may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. The Company is exposed to
significant credit risk on its loans receivable. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the
maximum credit exposure.

Foreign Exchange Rate 
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The Company has cash and loans receivable denominated in US dollars and, as a consequence, the
financial results of the Company’s operations as reported in Canadian dollars are subject to changes in
the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar. Therefore, exchange rate movements in the
US dollar can have a significant impact on the Company’s operating results due to the translation of
monetary assets.

At December 31, 2019, a 5% strengthening (weakening) of the Canadian dollar against the US dollar
would have increased (decreased) the Company’s net loss before taxes by approximately $2,586,608
(December 31, 2018 - 10%, $125,000) for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest
rates. Interest earned on cash is at nominal interest rates, and therefore the Company does not
consider interest rate risk for cash to be significant.

As at December 31, 2019, the interest rate on loans receivable and convertible debentures is fixed
based on the contracts in place. As such, the Company is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent as
stated on these financial assets and liabilities.

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and anticipated
investing and financing activities.

As at December 31, 2019, the Company had a cash balance of $1,378,687 (2018 - $24,377,286)
available to apply against short-term business requirements and current liabilities of $55,542,045 (2018
- $161,937). All of the liabilities presented as accounts payable and accrued liabilities are due within 90
days of December 31, 2019.

 
Related Party Transactions 

 
The following is a summary of related party transactions that occurred during the year ended December
31, 2019:

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $377,157 (2018 - $6,250) payable to
officers and a director of the Company. Amounts due to related parties have no stated terms of
interest and/or repayment, and are unsecured. 

Key management personnel include the directors and officers of the Company. Key management
compensation consists of the following: 

 

December 31,
2019

$

December 31,
2018

$
Consulting fees paid or accrued to a company
controlled by the director of the Company 108,000 75,000
Salary paid to management of the Company 495,632 -
Share-based compensation 655,380 280,829
   

 
. 
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Capital Management 

The Company manages its capital to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern and to provide
returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders. The capital structure of the Company
consists of cash, convertible debentures and equity, comprised of issued share capital.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of economic conditions.
The Company, upon approval from its Board of Directors, will balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues or by undertaking other activities as deemed appropriate under the specific
circumstances. There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the
year ended Decembrer 31, 2019.

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and the Company’s overall
strategy with respect to capital risk management remains the same for the periods presented.

 
Convertible Debentures 

During the period ended December 31, 2017, the Company issued $627,000 in convertible debentures
to a group of arms-length lenders. The convertible debentures were non-interest bearing and are
convertible into common shares of the Company at a conversion price of $0.50 per common share.

On issuance, the Company allocated the total proceeds received between the liability and equity
components of the convertible debenture using the residual method, based on a discount rate of 18%,
which is the estimated cost at which the Company could borrow similar debt without a conversion
feature. The liability component with a fair value of $530,874 on inception is measured at amortized
cost and is accrued over the expected term to maturity using the effective interest method. The equity
component with a fair value of $96,126 on inception is presented as a component of shareholders’
equity and is offset by the deferred income tax recovery of $25,176.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued additional convertible debentures
totaling $385,000 to a group of arms-length lenders. The convertible debentures were non-interest
bearing and are convertible into common shares of the Company at a conversion price of $0.50 per
common share.

On inception, the Company allocated the total proceeds received between the liability and equity
components of the convertible debenture using the residual method, based on a discount rate of 18%,
which is the estimated cost at which the Company could borrow similar debt without a conversion
feature. The liability component with a fair value of $328,983 on inception is measured at amortized
cost and is accrued over the expected term to maturity using the effective interest method. The equity
component with a fair value of $56,017 on inception is presented as a component of shareholders’
equity.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the total convertible debentures outstanding of $1,012,000
were converted into 2,024,000 common shares of the Company. 

Tidal Royalty Corp. Debenture

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued a $17,650,000 (consisting of
advances of CAD $15,000,000 and USD $2,000,000) senior secured convertible debenture (the “Tidal
Debenture”) to Tidal. The Tidal Debenture becomes due and payable (the “Tidal Debenture Maturity
Date”) on the earlier of: (i) September 30, 2019 (extended to April 30, 2020) and (ii) the date that all
amounts owing under the Tidal Debenture become due and payable in accordance with the terms of
the Tidal Debenture, including following an event of default. In the event of a default, the Tidal
Debenture will bear interest at 12% per annum. As of December 31, 2019, the Tidal Debenture is due
on demand. Subsequent to year-end on March 12, 2020, the Tidal Debenture Maturity Date was
extended to April 30, 2020.

The Tidal Debenture is convertible into common shares of the Company in the event that the Proposed
Transaction, as described in Note 17 with Tidal is not completed prior to the Tidal
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Debenture Maturity Date and the Company instead completes a “Change of Control” or a “Go Public
Transaction” as such terms are defined in the Tidal Debenture. In such circumstances, Tidal has the
right to convert the Tidal Debenture into common shares of the Company at a price equal to the lesser
of (i) $2.50; and (ii) a 20% discount to the issue price or effective price for any financing completed as
part of or concurrently with the Go Public Transaction, if applicable, or the effective purchase price per
common share of the Company in the case of a Change of Control transaction. The Tidal Debenture is
secured against the assets of the Company pursuant to a general security and pledge agreement dated
February 25, 2019 (the “GSA and Pledge Agreement”).

 
The Company may repay the Tidal Debenture prior to the Tidal Debenture Maturity Date at a price
equal to 110% of the principal amount and any accrued interest without the prior written consent of
Tidal if (i) the Proposed Transaction with Tidal is not capable of being completed prior to October 25,
2019; and (ii) both the Company and Tidal have acted in good faith and have used all commercially
reasonable efforts to complete the Proposed Transaction.

On issuance, the Company determined that the conversion feature met the definition of a derivative
liability and elected to measure the entire Tidal Debenture at fair value through profit or loss. This
derivative liability component was determined to have a value of $Nil as at December 31, 2019.

 
A continuity of the liability portion of the convertible debentures is as follows:

 
   

Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 533,755
Issuance of convertible debentures  328,983
Accretion expense  139,938
Settlement of convertible debentures  (1,002,676)
   
Balance, December 31, 2018  -
Issuance of convertible debentures  17,650,000
Revaluation of foreign currency balances  (52,400)
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 17,597,600

 
Bridge Financing 

 
On June 4, 2019, Bridging Finance Inc. (the “Lender”) entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) with the Company and PharmaCo (collectively, the “Borrowers”) pursuant to which the
Lender established a non-revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) for the Borrowers in a maximum
principal amount of  $36,374,400  (the “Facility Limit”). The purpose of the Facility is so that the
Borrowers can purchase certain real estate and business assets in the state of Michigan, to make
additional permitted acquisitions and for general corporate and operating purposes.

The obligations under the Facility are due and payable on the earlier of: (a) the termination date (being
January 4, 2020); and (b) the acceleration date (being the earlier of the date of an insolvency event or
that a demand notice is delivered pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement).  

In respect of the advance made by the Lender to the Borrowers under the Facility, the Borrowers
agreed to pay the Lender:

Interest at the prime rate plus 10.55% per annum calculated and compounded monthly,
payable monthly in arrears on the last day of each month; and 

A work fee equal to $909,360 (the “Work Fee”) (paid by the Company).     

The obligations under the Facility are secured by general security agreements on each Borrower,
mortgages on certain owned real property of PharmaCo among other security obligations.

As the funds under the Facility (net of the Work Fee, commissions and other transaction expenses of
the Lender) were advanced by the Lender directly to MichiCann, MichiCann in turn advanced the
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funds (net of MichiCann’s transaction expenses) to PharmaCo pursuant to a Promissory Note issued by
PharmaCo to MichiCann in the principal amount of $30,648,517 (Note 6). Any amounts payable by
PharmaCo or MichiCann to the Lender under the Facility will reduce the amount of PharmaCo’s
obligations to MichiCann on a dollar for dollar basis under the Promissory Note.

The Company paid financing fees related to the Facility, including the Work Fee, of $2,361,459 which
has been included as commission expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company
also deducted a debt service reserve of $3,323,524 from the total principal amount which serves to pay
the interest on the Facility as it is incurred. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company
incurred interest expense of $3,540,353 on the Facility. As such, as of December 31, 2019 the debt
service reserve balance is $nil and the Company has interest payable of $229,399 included in the
bridge financing amount.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company paid deposit of $133,000 for additional
professional fees.  The remaining balance of the deposit as at December 31, 2019 was $72,500.

On January 10, 2020, the Facility was amended (the “Amended Facility”) pursuant to an amended and
restated agreement between the Lender, MichiCann (as guarantor) and PharmaCo, RWB Illinois, Inc.
(“RWB”) and MAG (collectively as borrowers). 

The Amended Facility increased the Facility Limit to USD $49,750,000 in the aggregate of which USD
$27,000,000 was to refinance the existing Facility and USD $22,750,000 was used to complete the
MAG Acquisition (Note 18) and for general corporate and operating purposes.

The obligations under the Amended Facility are due and payable on the earlier of:

(a) the termination date (being July 10, 2021 subject to the right of the Borrowers to extend the
termination date by paying a 1% fee for two additional six-month periods for a total of 30 months);
and

(b) the acceleration date (being the earlier of the date of an insolvency event or that a demand
notice is delivered pursuant to the terms of the Amended Facility).

In respect of the advance made by the Lender to the Borrowers under the Facility, the Borrowers agreed
to pay the Lender:

Interest at the prime rate plus 12% per annum calculated and compounded monthly, payable
monthly in arrears on the last day of each month; and 

A work fee equal to $1,492,500 (the “Amended Work Fee”) (paid by the Company) 
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Equipment 
 

 Computer Hardware
   
Cost   
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ -
Additions  12,745
   
Balance, December, 2019 $ 12,745
   

Accumulated depreciation   
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ -
Change for the year  1,898
   
Balance, December, 2019 $ 1,898

 
Carrying value   
December 31, 2018 $ -
December 31, 2019 $ 10,847
   

 
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information  

 
 2019 2018

     
Additional Information     
Shares issued for convertible debenture on conversion $ - $ 4,810,000
Share issuance costs in accounts payable $ 45,340 $ -
Interest paid $ 3,323,524 $ -
Taxes paid $ - $ -

Segmented Information  

The Company currently has an investment in one company in the cannabis industry and operates in
one geographic location, being Canada.
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16.  Income Taxes

The tax effect (computed by applying the Canadian federal and provincial statutory rate) of the
significant temporary differences, which comprise deferred income tax assets and liabilities, are as
follows:

 2019 2018

     
Loss before income taxes $ (12,513,900) $ (2,171,340)
Statutory income tax rate  26.50%  27.00%
     
Expected income tax recovery  (3,316,184)  (586,262)
Non-deductible recoveries and other  1,005,965  442,626
Effect of change in tax rates  5,674  -
Under (over) provided in prior years  44,209  -
Changes in unrecognized deductible

temporary differences  341,622  85,901
Convertible debentures and others  -  (40,301)
Unused tax losses and tax offsets not

recognized  1,918,714  57,735
     
Total income tax recovery $ - $ 40,301

 

The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

 
 

2019
$

2018
$

   
Deferred income tax assets   
   

Non-capital losses carried forward 5,180,156 -
Deferred income tax liabilities (5,180,156) -

   
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) - -

As at December 31, 2019, the Company has non-capital losses carried forward of approximately
$4,015,000 which are available to offset future years’ taxable income and expires through to 2039.

                      $
   
2037  (30,000)
2038  (477,000)
2039  (3,508,000)
  (4,015,000)
   

17.  Proposed Transactions

       Tidal

On May 8, 2019, the Company executed a business combination agreement (the “Definitive
Agreement”) with Tidal pursuant to which Tidal will acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of
the Company (the “Proposed Transaction”).  Under the terms of the Definitive Agreement, all of the
issued and outstanding common shares of MichiCann will be exchanged on the basis of 2.08 common
shares of Tidal, for each one (1) MichiCann common share, subject to adjustment in certain
circumstances as set out in the Definitive Agreement (the “Exchange Ratio”).  Upon completion of
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the Proposed Transaction, and assuming no other issuances of securities by MichiCann, existing
MichiCann and Tidal shareholders will own approximately 80% and 20% of the resulting company (the
“Resulting Issuer”), respectively, on a fully diluted basis.  All outstanding options and warrants to
purchase MichiCann common shares will be replaced with options and warrants to purchase common
shares of the Resulting Issuer in accordance with the Exchange Ratio.
 
The Proposed Transaction will be completed by way of a three-cornered amalgamation under the
Business Corporations Act (Ontario), whereby 2690229 Ontario Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of  Tidal
will amalgamate with the Company (the “Amalgamation”).  The Proposed Transaction will constitute a
“Fundamental Change” of the Company, as such term is defined in the policies of the Canadian
Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) and as a result Tidal will be required to obtain the approval of the
holders of its outstanding common shares, by simple majority, which it intends to obtain by way of
written consent.  

Immediately prior to the completion of the Amalgamation, Tidal will (i) complete a share consolidation
on an 8:1 basis (the “Consolidation”), (ii) the Company will change its name to “Red White & Bloom
Inc.” or such other name (the “Name Change”).

Pursuant to the terms of the Definitive Agreement, the closing of the Proposed Transaction is subject to
a number of conditions, including but not limited to (i) obtaining requisite shareholder approvals, (ii) the
completion of the Consolidation, the Name Change and the board appointments, (iii) obtaining requisite
regulatory approvals including the approval of the CSE for the Proposed Transaction and the listing of
the common share of the Resulting Issuer, (iv) obtaining escrow agreements from the directors and
officers of each of MichiCann and Tidal, and certain shareholders of each of MichiCann, its Michigan
based investee and Tidal pursuant to which the escrowed shares would be subject to restrictions on
transfer and other dealings and released in three equal tranches over a period of 18 months following
the closing of the Proposed Transaction, and (vi) other closing conditions customary for transactions of
this nature. Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company amended the Definitive
Agreement (Note 18).

Kings Garden Inc.

On July 25, 2019, the Company entered a LOI with Kings Garden Inc. (“Kings Garden”) pursuant to
which the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of Kings Garden. Under the
terms of the LOI, all of the issued and outstanding shares of Kings Garden will be exchanged for the
following consideration:

USD $30,000,000, net of a tax gross-up (not to exceed USD $48,600,000 total) and payment of
brokerage fees expected to be approximately USD $6,000,000, payable in cash and equity on
the same proportionate ratio as the total consideration for the acquisition of Kings Garden; 

USD $255,000,000 in MichiCann shares to the Kings Garden shareholders. If the acquisition of
Kings Garden. is not completed by October 30, 2019, except due to delays caused by Kings
Garden shareholders or regulatory agencies, the amount increases to USD $280,500,000 in
MichiCann Shares; 

USD $12,500,000 invested in Kings Garden to fund capital expenditures and other growth in the
form of installments of USD $6,250,000 at the closing of the acquisition of Kings Garden, and
the balance on a mutually approved schedule. 

Pursuant to the terms of the LOI, the closing of the acquisition of Kings Garden is subject to a number
of conditions, including but not limited to (i) the completion of due diligence, (ii) entering into of a
definitive agreement by both parties, (iii) approval by the board of directors, (iv) approval by the
shareholders of the Company and Kings Garden, (v) approval by the CSE, (vi) the adoption of an equity
incentive pool for employees of Kings Garden by the Company, (vii) all outstanding options of Kings
Garden will be exchanged for replacement options of MichiCann at an exchange ratio based on the
equity valuation of MichiCann, and (viii) other closing conditions customary for transactions of this
nature.
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As of December 31, 2019, $1,853,059 has been advanced to Kings Garden under the terms of this LOI
and is recorded as a deposit in the consolidated statements of financial position.

18.  Subsequent Events

Illinois Facility and Mid-American Growers, Inc.

On October 9, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement and plan of merger (the “MAG Merger
Agreement”) with MAG, RWB Illinois, Inc. and Arthur VanWingerden and Ken VanWingerden
(collectively the “MAG Sellers”) pursuant to which the Company will acquire all of the issued and
outstanding shares of MAG. MAG has a facility for hemp production on 124 acres of real property
commonly known as 14240 Greenhouse Avenue, Granville, Illinois (the “MAG owned property”). The
MAG Merger Agreement was amended on November 1, 2019 and January 9, 2020. The merger was
completed on January 10, 2020 (“MAG Acquisition”).

Pursuant to the MAG Merger Agreement, on closing of the MAG Acquisition, the Company paid to the
MAG Sellers USD $7,100,000 in cash and issued to the MAG Sellers a non-transferable, fully paid right
to receive in the aggregate 35,637,800 common shares of Tidal after the completion of the three-
cornered amalgamation with the Company and 2690229 Ontario Inc. (“Resulting Issuer Shares”)
(assuming completion of the Proposed Transaction prior to June 1, 2020). If the Proposed Transaction
is not completed prior to June 1, 2020, MichiCann shall deliver to the MAG Sellers an additional
aggregate cash payment equal to USD $5,000,000 and 17,133,600 MichiCann common shares.   

In addition, so long as the MAG Sellers have used commercially reasonable efforts to assist MichiCann
and MAG in achieving regulatory approval of a commercial cultivation center license to MAG for the
Illinois Facility described below (the “Milestone Event”) (i) MichiCann shall issue to the MAG Sellers an
additional 5,491,200 Resulting Issuer Shares (assuming completion of the Proposed Transaction prior
to the Milestone Event) based on a value of USD $10,000,000 and (ii) only if the Milestone Event is
achieved during calendar 2020, MichiCann shall pay to the MAG Sellers in the aggregate an additional
USD $5,000,000 in cash. If the Proposed Transaction is not completed at the time of the Milestone
Event, MichiCann shall issue to the MAG Sellers an aggregate 2,640,000 additional MichiCann common
shares.

Concurrent with the closing of the MAG Acquisition, MichiCann’s wholly owned subsidiary, RWB Illinois,
Inc. acquired an additional 142 acres of land located in Illinois, together with the buildings, plant
facilities, structures, building systems fixtures and improvements located thereon and related personal
property and intangibles (together with the MAG owned property, the “Illinois Facility”) for USD
$2,000,000 pursuant to a real estate purchase agreement made and entered into as of January 10,
2020 between RWB, VW Properties LLC, as seller, and each of the MAG Sellers.

Tidal Amendment

On March 12, 2020, the Company entered into an amended and restated business combination
agreement (the “Amended Agreement”) with Tidal (note 17) pursuant to which Tidal will acquire all of
the issued and outstanding shares of the Company on a 2:1 basis, subject to adjustment in certain
circumstances (the “Amended Exchange Ratio”). The terms of the Amended Agreement provide that
the share consideration will now be comprised of one common share (the “Common Shares”) and one
series 2 convertible preferred share (the “Series 2 Shares”) of the Resulting Issuer. The Series 2
Shares to be issued to MichiCann shareholders (i) will carry voting rights (entitling a holder to one vote
per Series 2 Share held, voting together with the holders of common shares), (ii) will be entitled to 5%
annual dividends payable in additional Series 2 Shares (the “Dividends”), (iii) will be convertible
(together with accrued Dividends) into Common Shares on a 1:1 basis at the option of the holder on or
after the seven month anniversary of their issuance date, and (iv) will automatically be converted on the
same basis on the two year anniversary of their issuance date.  All outstanding options and warrants to
purchase MichiCann common shares will be exchanged with options and warrants to purchase common
shares and Series 2 Shares in accordance with the Amended Exchange Ratio.
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The Amended Agreement contemplates the following changes: Immediately prior to the completion of
the Amalgamation, Tidal will (i) complete a share consolidation on a 16:1 basis (the “Amended
Consolidation”), (ii) change its name to “Red White & Bloom Brands Inc.” and (iii) reconstitute its board
of directors such that the board of the Resulting Issuer will consist of five (5) directors, which will include
two (2) members of the current board of Tidal and three (3) nominees of MichiCann (the “Board
Appointments”).

Pursuant to the terms of the Amended Agreement, the closing of the Proposed Transaction is subject to
a number of conditions, including but not limited to (i) obtaining the requisite shareholder approvals, (ii)
the completion of the Amended Consolidation, the Name Change and the Board Appointments, (iii)
obtaining requisite regulatory approvals including the approval of the CSE for the Proposed Transaction
and the listing of the Common Shares, (iv) obtaining escrow agreements from the directors and officers
of each of MichiCann and Tidal, and certain shareholders of each of MichiCann and Tidal pursuant to
which the escrowed shares would be subject to restrictions on transfer and other dealings and released
in three equal tranches over a period of 18 months following the closing of the Proposed Transaction,
and (v) other closing conditions customary for transactions of this nature.

Tidal Business Combination

On April 28 2020, the Company announced the closing of the Amalgamation with Tidal pursuant to the
terms of the Amended Agreement dated March 12, 2020.

The Amalgamation involved the acquisition of 100% of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares
on a 2:1 basis. Due to the terms of the Exchange Ratio the previous shareholders of the Company
acquired a controlling interest in Tidal and as such the Amalgamation has been accounted for as a
reverse takeover transaction with the Company being the resulting issuer for financial reporting
purposes. Upon completion of the Amalgamation, Tidal changed its name to Red, White & Bloom
Brands Inc.

The assets and liabilities of Tidal cannot be disclosed at this time because the Company is still in the
process of completing the closing balance sheet and the valuation of assets and liabilities acquired.

COVID-19

Since December 31, 2019, the outbreak of the novel strain of coronavirus, specifically identified as
“COVID-19”, has resulted in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the
spread of the virus. These measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposed
quarantine periods and physical distancing, have caused material disruption to business globally
resulting in an economic slowdown. Global equity markets have experienced significant volatility and
weakness. The duration and impact of the COVID-19 outbreak is unknown at this time, as is the
efficacy of the government and central bank interventions. It is not possible to reliably estimate the
length and severity of these developments and the impact on the financial results and condition of the
Company in future periods.
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The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in
conjunction with the audited financial statements and accompanying notes (“Financial
Statements”) of MichiCann Medical Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31,
2018. Results have been prepared using accounting policies in compliance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”). All monetary amounts are reported in Canadian dollars unless
otherwise indicated.
 
For further information on the Company reference should be made to the Company’s public
filings which are available on SEDAR.
 
This MD&A contains forward-looking information. See “Forward-Looking Information” and
“Risks and Uncertainties” for a discussion of the risks, uncertainties and assumptions
relating to such information.
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Introduction
 
The following discussion of performance and financial condition should be read in conjunction with
the financial statements of MichiCann Medical Inc (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31,
2018.  The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”)
and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  The
Company’s reporting currency is Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated.  This Management’s
Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is dated May 22, 2019.
 
 
Description of Business
 
MichiCann Medical Inc. (the “Company” or “MichiCann”) is a private investment company
incorporated under the laws of Ontario on December 5, 2017. The Company’s head office is located at
8820 Jane Street, Concord, ON, L4K 2M9 Canada.

As at December 31, 2018, the Company had not yet generated any revenue, has working capital of
$34,775,749 (2017 –  $63,441) and has accumulated losses of $(2,163,725) since inception. The
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to generate future
profitable operations, to obtain the necessary financing to meet its obligations and repay its liabilities
arising from normal business operations when they come due. These factors indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. These financial statements have been prepared under the assumption of a going concern,
which assumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business. The Company estimates that it will have sufficient capital to continue
operations for the upcoming year.

 
Project Overview

MichiCann, operating as Red White & Bloom, is an investment company with a focus on the US
cannabis industry. MichiCann’s current investments are the PharmaCo Debenture and its rights under
the PharmaCo Put/Call Option Agreement.

MichiCann holds 8% senior secured convertible debenture (the “Debenture”) and a put/call option (the
“Put/Call Option”) to acquire all the issued and outstanding shares of its Michigan based investee
(“PharmaCo”),  a  private  company  incorporated  under  the  laws  of  the  State  of Michigan.

PharmaCo has been granted a Step 1 prequalification by the Medical Marihuana Licensing Board of
the State of Michigan and has been awarded multiple municipal approvals for grower permits
(cultivation), manufacturing (including extraction and derivative manufacturing) and provisioning
centers (dispensaries).  

Current approvals allow for stacking of Michigan “C Licenses” providing PharmaCo with a unique
opportunity to establish itself as one of the largest licensed producer of cannabis in Michigan state.
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PharmaCo has been State pre-qualified for two Processing licenses with a third pending in three
distinct and strategic locations. PharmaCo has completed State and City approvals for large scale
processing operations. This will allow the company to produce various oils, edibles and other cannabis
derivatives. The company intends on constructing multiple extraction and processing facilities for the
production of cannabis derivative products in each state that it operates in.

PharmaCo has purchased an 85,000 square foot facility for  its first indoor  cultivation  and
manufacturing center. Initial plans for this facility will include the ability to produce in excess of
10,000,000 grams of flower per year with first harvest, post retrofitting to a perpetual harvest facility,
expected in Q4 2019, and will include state of the art extraction capabilities in the same facility.
PharmaCo has also purchased two smaller vertically integrated grow and manufacturing operations as
part of its dispensary acquisitions.

PharmaCo, has been pre-qualified for three provisioning center licenses and has acquired and/or
executed agreements to acquire a further 18 locations. MichiCann plans to expand into additional
states with a focus on Florida (which allows for 30 dispensaries per license), Arizona, Pennsylvania,
Nevada and Ohio.

With 10 existing stores and a minimum of 25 locations operating by Q4 of 2019, RWB has established
itself as the largest operator of dispensaries in Michigan.

Plans are underway to roll out unified corporate branding to allow for even greater efficiency and
scaling outside Michigan.

 

SELECTED ANNUAL AND QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Selected Annual Information
 
The following selected financial information is derived from the audited financial statements of the Company. The
figures have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.  

  Period Ended December 31, (audited)

 2018  2017

Total revenues
$                  -               $                  -

             
General and administrative
expenses

553,781  32,686

Net loss and comprehensive loss (2,131,039)  (32,686)
Net loss per share – Basic & fully
diluted (0.06)  (32,686)

Totals assets 34,937,686  624,638
Total liabilities  161,937   586,373

Cash dividends declared per share  Nil   Nil
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the period from incorporation on December
5, 2017 to December 31, 2017.

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $2,131,039 as compared
to $32,686 for the period ended 2017. The increase in net loss and comprehensive loss of $2,098,353
was mainly attributable to the net effect of:

Increase of $297,917 in Consulting fees, from $27,083 in 2017 to $325,000 in 2018.  
Increase of $51,080 in Professional fees, from $2,442 in 2017 to $53,522 in 2018. 
Increase of $7,585 in Office expenses, from $280 in 2017 to $7,865 in 2018. 
Increase of $32,921 in Travel, from $Nil in 2017 to $32,921 in 2018. 
Increase of $25,465 in Foreign Exchange gain, from $Nil in 2017 to $25,465 in 2018.  
Increase of $137,057 in Accretion expenses, from $2,881 in 2017 to $139,938 in 2018. 
Increase of $1,637,559 in Share-based compensation, from $Nil in 2017 to $1,637,559 in 2018. 
Increase of $40,301 in Deferred income tax recovery, from $Nil in 2017 to $40,301 in 2018. 

 
Selected Financial Information
 
To date, the Company has not commenced commercial operations.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
As at December 31, 2018, the Company had working capital of $34,775,749 (2017: $63,441).
 
As at December 31, 2018, the Shareholders’ equity of $34,775,749 (2017: $38,265) consisted of share
capital of $35,111,680 (2017: $70,951), reserves of $1,952,794 (2017:$Nil), subscriptions receivable
of $125,000 (2017:$Nil) and deficit of $2,163,725 (2017: $32,686).
 
Outstanding Share Data
 

Authorized Share Capital: unlimited common shares without par value. 
Issued and Outstanding as at December 31, 2018: 74,222,182 common shares (2017: 1). 

 
Common shares
 
On February 1, 2018, the Company issued 37,310,000 founder common shares for gross proceeds of
$37.

On April 3, 2018, MichiCann issued an aggregate of $1,012,000 principal amount of unsecured
convertible debentures (the “Unsecured Debentures”) convertible into MichiCann common shares at a
price of $0.50 per MichiCann shares. All Unsecured Debentures converted into an aggregate of
2,024,000 MichiCann common shares on November 21, 2018.

On November 21, 2018, the Company completed the issuance of 4,810,00 common shares to settle
certain debt from PharmaCo at a price of $1.00 per common share for a total of $4,810,000.  As at
December 31,

·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

a)
b)
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2018, the amount is due to the Company by PharmaCo and is non-interest bearing, due on demand and
has no fixed date of repayment.  

On December 18, 2018, MichiCann issued 30,078,182 common shares pursuant to a non-brokered
financing (first tranche) at a price of $1.00 for aggregate gross proceeds of $30,078,182. The
Company paid share issuance costs of $470,340 as finder fees. The Company also issued 595,340
finders’ with an exercise price of $1.00 per common share of the Company for a period of two years.
The finders’ warrants have a fair value of $315,235 estimated using the Black-Scholes options pricing
model.

During the period ended December 31, 2017, the Company issued 1 incorporation share for a nominal
value.

Common shares issuances subsequent to year end

On February 22, 2019, MichiCann issued 4,500,000 MichiCann Shares pursuant to a non-brokered
financing (second tranche) at a price of $1.00 per MichiCann Share for aggregate proceeds of
4,500,000.

On February 22, 2019, MichiCann issued 2,240,000 MichiCann Shares pursuant to a new non-
brokered financing at a price of $2.50 per MichiCann Share for aggregate proceeds of $5,600,000.

 
Options

 
On October 1, 2018, the Company granted 2,000,000 stock options to various consultants, directors
and officers of the Company. These stock options vest 12.5% on January 1, 2019, 12.5% on April 1,
2019, 12.5% on July 1, 2019, 12.5% on October 1, 2019, 12.5% on January 1, 2020, 12.5% on April
1, 2020, 12.5% on July 1, 2020 and the remaining 12.5% on October 1, 2020. These stock options
have an exercise price of $0.50 per share and expire on October 1, 2023.
 
On October 1, 2018, the Company granted 2,500,000 stock options to various consultants, directors
and officers of the Company. These stock options vest 25% on January 1, 2019, 25% on April 1,
2019, 25% on July 1, 2019, 25% on October 1, 2019. These stock options have an exercise price of
$0.50 per share and expire on October 1, 2023.
 
The options granted during the year ended December 31, 2018 have a fair value of $3,739,048
estimated using the Black-Scholes options pricing model.  During the year ended December 31, 2018,
the Company recognized $1,637,559 in stock-based compensation expense under graded vesting. The
Company did not grant any stock options during the period ended December 31, 2017.

The following options were outstanding at December 31, 2018:

Grant Date  Expiry Date
Exercise

Price
Number of

Options Exercisable

      

October 1, 2018  October 1, 2023 $ 0.50 4,500,000 -

    4,500,000 -
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Warrants
 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 595,340 finder’s warrants with an
exercise price of $1.00 per common share of the Company for a period of two years. The finder’s
warrants have a fair value of $315,235 estimated using the Black-Scholes options pricing model.

The following warrants were outstanding at December 31, 2018:

Issue Date  Expiry Date
Exercise

Price
Number of
Warrants Exercisable

      

December 19,
2018  

December 19,
2020 $ 1.00 595,340 595,340

    595,340 595,340

 

Financial and Other Instruments
 
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payables
and accrued liabilities, loans receivable and amounts receivable and related party transactions.  Unless
otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest,
currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.
 
The fair value of these instruments approximates their carrying value due to the short-term nature of
their maturity.
 
Critical Accounting Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements requires the Company to select from possible alternative
accounting principles, and to make estimates and assumptions that determine the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and reported costs and expenditures during the reporting
period.  Estimates and assumptions may be revised as new information is obtained, and are subject to
change.  The Company’s accounting policies and estimates used in the preparation of the financial
statements are considered appropriate in the circumstances, but are subject to judgments and
uncertainties inherent in the financial reporting process.
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Adoption of New and Revised Standards and Interpretations

 
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the following accounting pronouncements retrospectively
with no restatement of comparative periods:

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Company adopted IFRS 15 with a date of initial application as of January 1, 2018. IFRS 15
specifies how and when revenue should be recognized as well as requiring more informative and
relevant disclosures. The standard supersedes IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts, and a
number of revenue-related interpretations. Application of the standard is mandatory and it applies to
nearly all contracts with customers: the main exceptions are leases, financial instruments and
insurance contracts. The adoption of IFRS 15 did not have an impact on the Company’s financial
statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Company’s
financial statements are listed below and include only those which the Company reasonably expects
may be applicable to the Company at a future date. The Company intends to adopt these standards and
interpretations when they become effective and is currently assessing their impact on the financial
statements.

IFRS 16 Leases

This new standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases for both the lessee and the lessor. The new standard introduces a single lessee
accounting model that requires the recognition of all assets and liabilities arising from a lease. The
main features of the new standard are as follows:

An entity identifies as a lease a contract that conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period in exchange for consideration. 
A lessee recognizes an asset representing the right to use the leased asset, and a liability for its
obligation to make lease payments. Exceptions are permitted for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets.  
A lease asset is initially measured at cost, and is then depreciated similarly to property, plant
and equipment. A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the unpaid lease
payments. 
A lessee presents interest expense on a lease liability separately from depreciation of a lease
asset in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
A lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for
them accordingly. 
A lessor provides enhanced disclosures about its risk exposure, particularly exposure to
residual-value risk. 

·

·

·

·

·

·
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The new standard supersedes the requirements in IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

This standard is applicable to the Company’s annual period beginning January 1, 2019. The Company
does not expect there to be a material impact on adoption.

Related Party Transactions
 
The following is a summary of related party transactions that occurred during the year ended
December 31, 2018 and the period from incorporation on December 5, 2017 to December 31, 2017:

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $6,250 (2017 - $nil) payable to a director of
the Company. Amounts due to related parties have no stated terms of interest and/or repayment. 

 Key management personnel include the directors and officers of the Company. Key management
compensation consists of the following: 

 

 

Year ended
December 31,

2018
$

Period ended
December 31,

2017
$

Consulting fees paid or accrued to a company
controlled by the director of the Company 75,000 6,250
Share-based compensation 280,829 -
   

 
There were no post-employment benefits, termination benefits or other long-term benefits paid to key
management personnel for the year ended December 31, 2018 and period from incorporation on
December 5, 2017 to December 31, 2017.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 
The Company did not enter into any off-balance sheet arrangements during the period.
 
Outstanding Share Data as of Report Date
 
As at December 31, 2018 and the date of this report, the Company has:
 
 December 31, 2018 May 17, 2019
Issued and outstanding common shares 74,222,182 80,962,182
Warrants outstanding 595,340 595,340
Stock options outstanding 4,500,000 6,100,000
 
Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements
 
The information provided in this report, including the financial statements, is the responsibility of
Management.  In the preparation of these statements estimates are sometimes necessary to make a
determination of future values for certain assets or liabilities.  Management believes such estimates
have

(a)

(b)
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been based on careful judgments and have been properly reflected in the accompanying Financial
Statements.
 
Risks
 
The Investment in the common shares must be regarded as highly speculative due to the proposed
nature of the Company’s business and its present stage of development.  
 
There can be no assurance that an active and liquid market for the Company’s common shares will
develop and an investor may find it difficult to resell the common shares.
 
Controls and Procedures

 
The Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) are responsible for
designing internal controls over financial reporting in order to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with IFRS. The design of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting was assessed as of the date of this MD&A.
 
Based on this assessment, it was determined that certain weaknesses existed in internal controls over
financial reporting. As indicative of many small companies, the lack of segregation of duties and
effective risk assessment were identified as areas where weaknesses existed. The existence of these
weaknesses is to be compensated for by senior management monitoring, which exists. The officers
will continue to monitor very closely all financial activities of the Company and increase the level of
supervision in key areas. It is important to note that this issue would also require the Company to hire
additional staff in order to provide greater segregation of duties. Since the increased costs of such
hiring could threaten the Company’s financial viability, management has chosen to disclose the
potential risk in its filings and proceed with increased staffing only when the budgets and work load
will enable the action. The Company has attempted to mitigate these weaknesses, through a
combination of extensive and detailed review by the CFO of the financial reports.

 
Outlook  
 
Although current management has demonstrated its ability to raise funds in the past, with the current
financial market conditions and global economic uncertainty, there can be no assurance they will be
able to do so in the future.  The financial results and discussion do not include the adjustments that
would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.  Such adjustments
could be material.

 
Caution Regarding Forward Looking Statements
Except for historical information contained in this discussion and analysis, disclosure statements
contained herein are forward-looking.  Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and
uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ materially, from those in such forward-looking
statements.  Forward-looking statements are made based on management’s beliefs, estimates and
opinions on the date the statements are made and the Company undertakes no obligation to update
forward-looking statements if these beliefs, estimates and opinions or other circumstances should
change.  Investors are cautioned against attributing undue certainty to forward-looking statements.
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Other Information
Additional information about the Company is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
 
Subsequent Events

On January 15, 2019, the Company granted a total of 1,100,000 stock options to a consultant of the
Company. 500,000 of these stock options vest on April 1, 2019. Theses stock options have an exercise
price of $1.00 per share and expire on January 15, 2024. The remaining 600,000 of these stock options
vest on October 1, 2019. These stock options have an exercise price of $2.50 per share and expire on
January 15, 2024.

On April 29, 2019, the Company granted 500,000 stock options to a consultant of the Company. These
stock options vest 25% on execution of the agreement, 25% on May 30, 2019, 25% on August 30,
2019 and the remaining 25% on December 30, 2019. These stock options have an exercise price of
$1.00 per share and expire on April 29, 2024.

On May 13, 2019, the Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent with an arm’s length
company to acquire greenhouse facilities and equipment in Illinois, United States.  

On January 4, 2019, MichiCann entered into a put/call option agreement (the “Put/Call Option
Agreement”) with PharmaCo and its shareholders (“PharmaCo Shareholders”) pursuant to which the
PharmaCo Shareholders granted MichiCann the call right to acquire 100% of the issued and
outstanding shares of PharmaCo from the PharmaCo Shareholders, and MichiCann granted all of the
PharmaCo Shareholders the put right to sell 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of PharmaCo
to MichiCann, in exchange for the issuance of 37,000,000 MichiCann Shares in the aggregate (subject
to standard anti-dilution protections)  subject to all state and local regulatory approvals including the
approval of the Medical Marihuana Licensing Board and/or the Bureau of Medical Marihuana
Regulation (“BMMR”) within the Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs (“LARA”) in the
State of Michigan.

On February 25, 2019, MichiCann issued $15,000,000 principal amount of senior secured convertible
debenture (the “Tidal Debenture”) to Tidal. The Tidal Debenture becomes due and payable (the “Tidal
Debenture Maturity Date”) on the earliest of: (i) August 25, 2019 (subject to extension) and (ii) the
date that all amounts owning under the Tidal Debenture become due and payable in accordance with
the terms of the Tidal Debenture, including following an event of default.

The Tidal Debenture is convertible into MichiCann Shares in the in the event that the Proposed
Transaction is not completed prior to the Tidal Debenture Maturity Date and MichiCann instead
completes a “Change of Control” or a “Go Public Transaction” as such terms are defined in the Tidal
Debenture. In such circumstances, the holder has the right to convert the Tidal Debenture at a price per
MichiCann Share equal to the lesser of (i) $2.50 per MichiCann Share; and (ii) a 20% discount to the
issue price or effective price per MichiCann Share for any financing completed as part of or
concurrently with the Go Public Transaction, if applicable, or the effective purchase price per
MichiCann Share in the case of a Change of Control transaction. The Tidal Debenture is secured
against the assets of MichiCann pursuant to a general security and pledge agreement dated February
25, 2019 (the “GSA and Pledge Agreement”).  


